RECEIVED

04-06-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2014AP002603-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GLENN T. ZAMZOW,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming an Order Entered in Fond du Lac County, the Honorable Gary R. Sharpe, Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

> > THOMAS B. AQUINO Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066516

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-1971 aquinot@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The circuit court relied exclusively on a police officer's videotaped assertion that the defendant's vehicle had crossed the center line to find that reasonable suspicion supported the subsequent traffic stop.

1. Whether the introduction of the police officer's videotaped statement at the Fourth Amendment suppression hearing violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment right "[i]n all criminal prosecutions ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him...."

How the circuit court ruled: The circuit court held that the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause did not apply at suppression hearings; and that if it did, the officer's statement was not "testimonial" and its consideration did not violate the Clause.

How the court of appeals ruled: The court of appeals held that the Confrontation Clause does not apply at suppression hearings, and did not reach whether the statement was testimonial.

2. Whether the introduction of the deceased police officer's assertion, without any opportunity for the defendant to cross-examine the officer, violated the defendant's state due process rights.

How the lower courts ruled: Both the circuit court and the court of appeals held that the circuit court's consideration of the officer's statement did not violate the defendant's due process rights.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for cases decided by this court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Glenn T. Zamzow, was tried and convicted in Fond Du Lac County Circuit Court of Operating While Intoxicated (3^{rd}) , Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a),¹ and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Content, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). (59). Zamzow's appeal is limited to the trial court's denials (36, 66) of his pretrial and postconviction motions to suppress evidence derived from his initial traffic stop, which Zamzow argued was not supported by reasonable suspicion. (11, 15, 25, 63).

The police officer who stopped Zamzow's vehicle, Officer Craig Birkholz of the Fond du Lac Police Department, died shortly after the stop. (77:3). At the suppression hearings,² the state relied on a dashcam video taken from Officer Birkholz's squad car to meet its burden of proving that Officer Birkholz had reasonable suspicion to stop Zamzow. (78:3-34; 80:12-15; App. 128-131). The video included (1) a visual recording of Zamzow's driving prior to the traffic stop (78:33-34); (2) Officer Birkholz's statement to

¹ All references are to the 2011-12 version of the Wisconsin Statutes, unless otherwise indicated.

² When the video was played at the initial suppression hearing (78), for whatever reason no audio played. (80:3-4; App. 119-20). The circuit court judge later replayed the video in chambers after the hearing, and realized that it included audio. (*Id.*) The court advised the parties, and scheduled a second evidentiary hearing so the audio portions could be made part of the record. (*Id.*).

Zamzow, upon initially approaching Zamzow's window, that "[t]he reason I stopped you is you were crossing the center line there coming at me and then again when I turned around and got behind you" (80:12; App. 128); and (3) Officer Birkholz's statements to a fellow officer about the reason for the stop. (80:14-15; App. 130-31). Zamzow's counsel objected to the introduction of Officer Birkholz's statements as violating Zamzow's confrontation rights. (80:5-8; App. 121-124).

The court ultimately held that it could not determine from the video whether Zamzow crossed the line. (80:19-24; App. 135-40). The video begins with Officer Birkholz ascending a four-lane bridge (*i.e.*, with two lanes running in both directions) at about 3 a.m. (58:Timestamp 3:03:03).³ Despite the time, there are numerous vehicles traveling in both directions of traffic. Officer Birkholz is in the left hand lane. According to the telemetry data appearing on the video, Officer Birkholz's squad car is going approximately 30 m.p.h.

As Officer Birkholz crests the bridge, a vehicle appears in the oncoming lane, and its headlight temporarily flood the screen. (58:Timestamp 3:03:15). After that car passes, the road curves and starts to descend, and two

³ The same DVD containing the video of the stop was entered as an exhibit at the suppression hearing (19) and later as an exhibit at the trial. (58). It is currently located in an envelope marked item 58 in the index. Further, the DVD actually contains two dashcam videos, one taken from Officer Birkholz's vehicle ("Squad 16") and the other from a backup officer ("Squad 4") who arrived at the scene a few minutes after the stop. The DVD also contains a proprietary media application called "VidPlayer." To view the video of Zamzow's stop, the following file on the DVD must be opened with the VidPlayer application:

^{11-2888/}Squad16/media/2011.03.13_03.04.04_FPDDV_squad16.mt9

vehicles are visible in the oncoming lanes at the bottom of the bridge/hill. (58:Timestamp 3:03:23).

As the two oncoming cars approach Officer Birkholz toward the bottom of the hill, he shifts from the left to the right-hand lane. (58:Timestamp 3:03:35). After the two cars pass, Officer Birkholz then pulls a U-turn. (58:Timestamp 3:03:42).

Significantly, there is not a "center line" where Officer Birkholz turns around at the bottom of the hill, which is also about where Zamzow's vehicle first appears. Instead, there appears to be a middle lane that either direction of traffic may enter in order to make a left-hand turn. (58:Timestamp 3:03:40-42).

After completing the U-turn, Officer Birkholz accelerates to 59 m.p.h as he approaches Zamzow. (58:Timestamp 03:04:00). Officer Birkholz then activates his emergency lights, and initiates the traffic stop. (58:Timestamp 03:04:04).

The court held that it "could not determine from the video whether or not the defendant was crossing the center line as he was approaching the officer." (80:19; App. 135). According to the Court, when Officer Birkholz was behind Zamzow, it appeared that Zamzow's tires may have been on the line, but "the Court could not discern to the extent that there was an actual cross of the center line...." (80:19-20; App. 135-36). The court further noted that there was not anything else in the video that could support the traffic stop, such as evidence of weaving, speeding, or any other traffic violation. (80:23-24; App. 139-40).

The court concluded that the only possible evidence to support the stop would come from Officer Birkholz's videotaped statements. (80:23-24; App. 139-40). The court held that Officer Birkholz's statement to Zamzow was non-testimonial⁴, and the Confrontation Clause thus did not prohibit him from considering it. (80:20-22; App. 136-38). On the other hand, Officer Birkholz's statements to his fellow officer were testimonial, and were thus barred by the Confrontation Clause. (*Id.*).⁵

The court ultimately held that Officer Birkholz's statement to Zamzow sufficiently supported reasonable suspicion to make the traffic stop.

Based upon Officer Birkholz's belief that the – and testimony that the vehicle did, in fact, cross the center line twice in that short amount of time, I believe that there is sufficient basis for the officer to have made a stop for further inquiry. A cross of the center line is a violation of traffic law. ... So I am relying upon the officer's testimony as to the cross of the center line that he observed more so than the specifics that I observed on the video.

(80:24-26; App. 140-42).

Zamzow later moved the court to reconsider its conclusion that Officer Birkholz's statement to Zamzow was

⁴ The transcript actually has the court calling the statement "not non-testimonial," but it is clear from the context of the court's remaining remarks that either the court misspoke or the court reporter mis-transcribed this passage, and that the court was holding that the statement was non-testimonial.

⁵ The State has not appealed the trial court's determination that the Confrontation Clause prohibited the court's consideration of Officer Birkholz's statements to the other officer.

not testimonial. (25). At the subsequent hearing, the court held that the Confrontation Clause was not even applicable to the suppression hearing, citing *State v. Frambs*, 157 Wis. 2d 700, 702 (Ct. App. 1990). (81:17-21; App. 145-49). The court also reiterated, in case the Clause was applicable, its holding that the statement was not testimonial. (*Id.*).

Zamzow took the case to trial, but was convicted on both counts. (52:1-2; 57:1-2). Postconviction counsel timely filed a motion for postconviction relief arguing that the court's consideration of Officer Birkholz's statement at the suppression hearing violated Zamzow's due process rights, in addition to his confrontation right. (63:1-5). The court denied the motion (66, 85:13-15; App. 154-156), and Zamzow timely appealed (67).

A divided Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions. State v. Zamzow, 2016 WI App 7, 366 Wis. 2d 562, 874 N.W.2d 328, 334. (App. 101-16). The majority held that the confrontation clause does not apply at suppression hearings, and did not reach whether Officer Birkholz's statement was nontestimonial. *Id.*, 2016 WI App 7, ¶¶ 11, 16, n. 5. It also rejected Zamzow's due process claim. *Id.*, ¶¶ 12-16. The dissent pointed out that the Sixth Amendment applies to all "criminal prosecutions," not just trials, and that the upshot of the court's decision would be to turn suppression hearings into the kind of "paper reviews" found in civil law countries but foreign to our common law tradition. *Id.*, 2016 WI App 7, ¶ 22 (Reilly, J., dissenting) (citing *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 43 (2004)).

Zamzow timely filed a petition for review, which this court granted on March 7, 2016. The State Public Defender's Officer appointed undersigned counsel as successor postconviction counsel shortly thereafter.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court's Reliance on Officer Birkholz's Videotaped Accusation to Decide the Suppression Issue Violated Zamzow's Sixth Amendment Confrontation Rights.

This case involves the intersection of two constitutional rights: Zamzow's Fourth Amendment right to be secure against unreasonable searches and seizures, and his Sixth Amendment right, "in all criminal prosecutions ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him."

The Confrontation Clause reflects the considered judgment of the Founding generation that the best test for the reliability of a statement is through the "crucible of cross-examination." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 61-62 (2004). The Supreme Court has not squarely addressed whether or not the Confrontation Clause applies at a suppression hearing, though in one instance it tacitly assumed that it does. *McCray v. State of Ill.*, 386 U.S. 300, 305 (1967) (rejecting Confrontation Clause argument based on type of testimony involved, not because Clause inapplicable at suppression hearings).

The Supreme Court has, however, held that other Sixth Amendment rights apply at pretrial proceedings such as suppression hearings. *Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 46-47 (1984) (Public Trial Clause applies to suppression hearings); *Coleman v. Alabama*, 399 U.S. 1, 9-10 (1970) (Counsel Clause applies at preliminary hearing). Indeed, both *Waller* and *Coleman* refer to the need for exacting witness examinations to produce reliable evidence as justification for applying the respective Sixth Amendment right at the pre-trial proceeding, holdings that imply that the Confrontation Clause applies as well. *Waller* 467 U.S. at 46-47; *Coleman v. Alabama*, 399 U.S. at 9-10.

The Court has also recognized that Fourth Amendment "suppression hearings often are as important as the trial itself," since the entire case may turn on whether or not the government legally obtained the evidence against the accused. *Waller*, 467 U.S. at 46-47. Further, suppression hearings often involve factual determinations of contentious issues, namely the propriety of the government's actions. *Id.* The defendant's ability to challenge the reliability of an accusation is integral to the adversarial nature of the common law system, and is a right guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause throughout a "criminal prosecution," including a suppression hearing. *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 61-62.

Officer Birkholz's claim that Zamzow crossed the center line was the kind of testimonial out-of-court statement prohibited by the Confrontation Clause. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68. It was an accusation, recorded due to the possibility it would be needed in court, ostensibly designed to solicit some kind of response from Zamzow that could likewise be used in court. Zamzow was unable to cross-examine Officer Birkholz about the accusation, such as by challenging (1) the officer's ability to see Zamzow's vehicle in the early morning conditions, (2) the fact that the video does not depict Zamzow crossing of the center line, and (3) that it does not appear that there was even a "center line" at the where Officer Birkholz first sees Zamzow's vehicle. Accordingly, the court's reliance Officer Birkholz's statement violated Zamzow's on confrontation rights.

- A. The Confrontation Clause applies at suppression hearings.
 - 1. The Confrontation Clause prohibits the introduction of testimonial statements without the opportunity to cross-examine the declarant.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him..." Taken literally, the Clause would arguably prohibit introduction of any hearsay evidence by a declarant unavailable to testify in person. *See Maryland v. Craig*, 497 U.S. 836, 848 (1990).

The Supreme Court has not adopted a literal take of the Confrontation Clause, though it has struggled to define exactly what the Clause does prohibit. In *Ohio v. Roberts*, 448 U.S. 56 (1980), the Court held that the Confrontation Clause bars the admission of an unavailable witness's statement against a criminal defendant unless the statement bears "adequate 'indicia of reliability."" *Id.*, at 66. To meet that test, the *Roberts* court held evidence must either fall within a "firmly rooted hearsay exception" or bear "particularized guarantees of trust-worthiness." *Id.*

The Supreme Court repudiated *Roberts* just 24 years later, rejecting the proposition that the Confrontation Clause was merely a constitutional recognition of the problem with hearsay evidence. "[W]e do not think the Framers meant to leave the Sixth Amendment's protection to the vagaries of the rules of evidence, much less to amorphous notions of 'reliability'." *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 61-62. Whether a statement is deemed "reliable" will depend upon which

factors the judge considers and how much weight the judge accords to each. *Id.* at 63. Different judges will give "the same significance to opposite facts," and may even consider the very factors that make a statement testimonial to also make the statement "reliable" and thus admissible under *Roberts*. For example, the trial court in *Crawford* had reasoned that the declarant's questioning by a "neutral" police officer increased the statement's reliability, a proposition that Justice Scalia, writing for the Court, found hard to swallow. "The Framers would be astounded to learn that *ex parte* testimony could be admitted against a criminal defendant because it was elicited by 'neutral' government officers." *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 66.

The Court concluded that the Confrontation Clause does not provide a "substantive guarantee" of general reliability, but a procedural guarantee on *how* reliability is to be determined. The Clause:

> commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testing in the crucible of cross-examination. The Clause thus reflects a judgment, not only about the desirability of reliable evidence (a point on which there could be little dissent), but about how reliability can best be determined. Cf. 3 Blackstone, Commentaries, at 373 ("This open examination of witnesses ... is much more conducive to the clearing up of truth"); M. Hale, History and Analysis of the Common Law of England 258 (1713) (adversarial testing "beats and bolts out the Truth much better").

Crawford, 541 U.S. at 61-62.

The *Crawford* Court held that "[w]here testimonial evidence is at issue ... the Sixth Amendment demands ... unavailability and a prior opportunity for cross-examination."

The Court declined to give "a comprehensive definition of 'testimonial," but said "it applies at a minimum to ... police interrogations." *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 68.

The Court later refined the "testimonial" definition somewhat, at least with respect to police interrogations. *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 822 (2006). Interrogations "are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no ... ongoing emergency, and ... the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." *Id.*

2. The Supreme Court has applied the Confrontation Clause at a suppression hearing.

Crawford and its progeny address *what* the Confrontation Clause requires, but not when it is required. Certainly, the Court has repeatedly celebrated the Confrontation Clause as conferring an important trial right. See, e.g., California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 166 (1970). But in those cases, the confrontation issue arose during trial, so the Court would naturally discuss the importance of the right in the context of the trial. And just because a right is important during trial it does not follow that it is unimportant during other phases of the "criminal prosecution" of the defendant. Indeed, the Court has assumed that the Confrontation Clause applies during a suppression hearing, holding that the Clause was not violated, not that the Clause was inapplicable. McCray v. State of Ill., 386 U.S. 300, 305 (1967).

In *McCray*, the state court had allowed police officers testifying at a suppression hearing to withhold the identity of an informant, pursuant to the "informer privilege" well-recognized by state and federal courts. 386 U.S. at 308-09.

The Supreme Court concluded that application of the privilege did not violate the Confrontation Clause.

First, the issue at the suppression hearing was not whether the informant's statements were true, but whether the officers who relied upon them in arresting the defendant had done so "reasonably," as the Fourth Amendment commands. *McCray*, 386 U.S. at 312-13.⁶ And, "[t]he arresting officers in this case testified, in open court, fully and in precise detail as to what the informer told them and as to why they had reason to believe his information was trustworthy. Each officer was under oath. Each was subjected to searching cross-examination." *McCray*, 386 U.S. at 313.

Second, the Court refused to hold that the Confrontation Clause effectively eliminated testimonial privileges from the law of evidence. The Court declined to give the Clause a construction such that "no witness on cross-examination could ever constitutionally assert a testimonial privilege, including the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination guaranteed by the Constitution itself." *Id.* at 314.

If the Confrontation Clause did not apply at the suppression hearing, then there would be no reason for the *McCray* Court to make mention that the arresting officers were "subjected to searching cross-examination." 386 U.S. at 313. Nor would the court have noted that evidentiary privileges trump the Confrontation Clause. The Court would have instead just held that the Clause had not yet attached, and there was no right to cross-examine the arresting officers or the informant.

⁶ *See also Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59, n. 9 ("The Clause also does not bar the use of testimonial statements for purposes other than establishing the truth of the matter asserted.")

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