RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-26-2016

IN SUPREME COUR **COUR COUR COUR COUR**

No. 2014AP2603-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GLENN T. ZAMZOW,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR FOND DU LAC COUNTY, THE HONORABLE GARY R. SHARPE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

WARREN D. WEINSTEIN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013263

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES DOES NOT APPLY TO SUPPRESSION HEARINGS.

In this Court, like the dissent of Judge Reilly, Zamzow focuses on the word "prosecutions" in the Sixth Amendment to argue that the right to confront witnesses applies to his suppression hearing. He points to several Sixth Amendment rights that the Supreme Court has applied to pre-trial proceedings, principally the right to counsel and the right to a public trial. Zamzow's brief 7-17.

The Sixth Amendment, in its entirety, provides:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.

U.S. Const. amend VI.

Zamzow's argument paints with too broad a brush. No one would seriously argue that the right to an impartial jury applies to suppression hearings or preliminary hearings in general. Applying the impartial jury requirement to a suppression hearing involving the voluntariness of a confession would violate *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). Nor would the right to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation be of much use if it applied only at trial. Each of the rights enumerated in the Sixth Amendment must be analyzed on its own. And the United States Supreme Court has historically viewed the right to confront witnesses as a trial right.

A. Historically, the right to confront witnesses applied only at trial.

More than 120 years ago, the United States Supreme Court observed:

The primary object of the [Sixth Amendment] was to prevent depositions or ex parte affidavits, such as were sometimes admitted in civil cases, being used against the prisoner in lieu of a personal examination and crossexamination of the witness, in which the accused has an opportunity, not only of testing the recollection and sifting the conscience of the witness, but of compelling him to stand face to face with the jury in order that they may look at him, and judge by his demeanor upon the stand and the manner in which he gives his testimony whether he is worthy of belief.

Mattox v. United States, 156 U.S. 237, 242-43 (1895). The right to confront, then encompasses the right to cross-examine the witness to discover the truth and to have the jury observe the witness's demeanor on the stand in order to judge the credibility of the testimony. See also Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. 719, 725 (1968) (The right to confront witnesses encompasses "the opportunity to cross-examine and the occasion for the jury to weigh the demeanor of the witness."). These concerns are either diminished or not present at pre-trial evidentiary hearings.

In *California v. Green*, 399 U.S. 149 (1970), the Court rejected a claim that a California evidence code provision violated the Confrontation Clause by permitting at trial, prior inconsistent statements for the truth of the matter asserted. Relying on *Mattox*, the *Green* Court opined, "it is th[e] literal right to 'confront' the witness *at the time of trial* that forms the core of the values furthered by the Confrontation Clause." *Id.* at 157 (emphasis added). So long as the declarant testified at trial, no violation of the right to confrontation occurred. And in addition to the historical support for permitting prior inconsistent statements where the witness testifies at trial, the *Green* Court believed that full and effective cross-examination at the time of trial provided the jury ample opportunity to judge the witness's credibility. *Id.* at 159-61.

In Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15 (1985), the Court again emphasized cross-examination at trial. An expert witness testified on direct examination that he had "no specific knowledge as to the particular way that [he] determined [his conclusion]." *Id.* at 16-17. On crossexamination he confirmed he could not recall the method he employed. *Id.* at 17. Nevertheless, the *Fensterer* Court found no violation of the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation since Fensterer had fully demonstrated the expert's opinion to be unreliable. And "[q]uite obviously, an expert witness who cannot recall the basis for his opinion invites the jury to find that his opinion is as unreliable as his memory." *Id.* at 19.

The Court has found confrontation violations in restrictions placed on cross-examination where the restriction affected the jury's ability to fairly judge whether the witness is worthy of belief. The Court's analysis in those cases focuses on the jury's need to make an informed judgment about credibility, a concern not present at pre-trial to determine probable cause or reasonable hearings suspicion. In Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974), Richard Green, a juvenile adjudged delinquent for a burglary and on probation, was a crucial witness for the State. The trial court prohibited Davis's counsel from bringing out that Green was on probation for burglary because Alaska made juvenile

delinquency adjudications confidential. *Id.* at 309-11. The Supreme Court found the trial court's restriction on Green's cross-examination violated the Confrontation Clause because it prevented Davis from arguing a bias theory to the jury.

We cannot speculate as to whether the jury, as sole judge of the credibility of a witness, would have accepted this [bias theory]. But we do conclude that the jurors were entitled to have the benefit of the defense theory before them so that they could make an informed judgment as to the weight to place on Green's testimony which provided 'a crucial link in the [State's] proof'

Id. at 317.

"[T]he Court normally has refused to find a Sixth Amendment violation when the asserted interference with cross-examination did not occur at trial." *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 54 n.10 (1987). The *Ritchie* Court stated, "The opinions of this Court show that the right to confrontation is a *trial* right...." *Id.* at 52 (plurality opinion) (emphasis the Court's).

The Supreme Court has also distinguished between a determination of probable cause for arrest or for search warrants and proof of an accused's guilt at a trial.⁵ In *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 173 (1949), the Court stated:

⁵ As the State will develop in more detail when addressing Zamzow's due process claim, this distinction is especially important in due process analysis.

[Brinegar's argument] approaches requiring ... proof sufficient to establish guilt in order to substantiate the existence of probable cause. There is a large difference between the two things to be proved, as well as between the tribunals which determine them, and therefore a like difference in the quanta and modes of proof required to establish them.

The *Brinegar* Court noted that applications for warrants occur ex parte where the rules of evidence do not apply "mainly because the system of Evidence rules was devised for the special control of trials by jury." *Id.* at 174 n.12 (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted).

One can best perceive the distinction between suppression hearings and trials by comparing *Smith* v. Illinois, 390 U.S. 129 (1968), with McCray v. Illinois, 386 U.S. 300 (1967), cases decided shortly after the Court applied the Sixth Amendment to the states. See Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400 (1965). In Smith, a witness who identified himself on the witness stand as "James Jordon" testified Smith sold him narcotics. Although police officers corroborated some of "Jordon's" testimony, only he and Smith testified to the sale itself. Smith's version was entirely different. "The only real question at the trial, therefore, was the relative credibility of [Smith] and this prosecution witness." Smith, 390 U.S. at 130. On cross-examination, the witness admitted that "James Jordon" was not his real name. But when defense counsel asked him for his real name and where he lived, the trial court sustained the prosecutor's objections. Id. at 130-31.

The *Smith* Court held that although the trial court had not completely denied Smith cross-examination of the prosecution's main witness, when "the credibility of a witness is in issue, the very starting point in exposing falsehood and bringing out the truth through crossexamination must necessarily be to ask the witness who he is and where he lives." *Id.* at 131 (footnote, citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Restricting Smith's crossexamination violated the Confrontation Clause. *Id.* at 132.

In *McCray* the Court encountered witness identity in a suppression hearing. Officer Jackson, the arresting officer, testified he had a conversation with an informant⁶ who told Jackson that McCray was selling narcotics, that McCray had narcotics on his person and that McCray could be found at a particular location. Jackson and another officer went to the location, found McCray, searched him and discovered narcotics. *McCray*, 386 U.S. at 302. When McCray asked for the informant's name on cross-examination at the suppression hearing, the prosecutor objected and the trial court sustained the objection. *Id.* at 303.

The *McCray* Court noted the distinction between suppression hearings and trials determining guilt in balancing society's need for an informer privilege. *Id.* at 307.

⁶ Jackson testified he had been acquainted with the informant for approximately a year, that during this period the informant had supplied him with information about narcotics activities, that the information had proved to be accurate and had resulted in numerous arrests and convictions. *McCray v. Illinois*, 386 U.S. 300, 302 (1967).

The Court held McCray's confrontation "contention ... absolutely devoid of merit." *Id.* at 314. Accord Cooper v. *California*, 386 U.S. 58, 62 n.2 (1967). See also United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 175 (1974) (citing McCray and stating, "In the course of the opinion, we specifically rejected the claim that defendant's right to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment and Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment had in any way been violated.").

Zamzow claims that the *McCray* Court rejected McCray's confrontation claim but did not hold that confrontation did not apply to a suppression hearing. But the contrast between *Smith* on the one hand and *McCray* on the other, could not be more striking. At a criminal trial, a government witness using a false name who bought narcotics from a defendant must disclose his or her name and address to avoid violating the Confrontation Clause. But at a suppression hearing, the State may withhold the name of a confidential informant who bought narcotics from a defendant without violating the Confrontation Clause. By comparing *Smith* to *McCray*, one cannot escape the fact that the right to confrontation does not apply to pre-trial proceedings.⁷

⁷ The State further notes that the *Smith* Court, by resting its holding that a trial witness's name must be disclosed on the Sixth Amendment, forecloses application of an informant privilege at trial. *Smith* v. *Illinois*, 390 U.S. 129 (1968).

Zamzow does not address *Cooper*. That case turned on the reasonableness of a search of an impounded car a week subsequent to its seizure. *Cooper*, 386 U.S. at 59-62. But in footnote 2, the Court wrote: "Petitioner also presents the contention here that he was unconstitutionally deprived of the right to confront a witness against him, because the State did not produce the informant to testify against him [at the suppression hearing]. This contention we consider absolutely devoid of merit." It is hard to see how *Cooper's* footnote does not lend substantial support to the conclusion that the right to confrontation does not apply to suppression hearings.

Moreover Zamzow does not cite a single case in which the United States Supreme Court has found a violation of the right to confront witnesses at a pre-trial hearing. And there can be no doubt that the distinction plays a part in the Court's confrontation jurisprudence. *See, e.g., Kentucky v. Stincer*, 482 U.S. 730, 738 n.9 (1987). Even under the broader view expressed by Justice Blackmun in *Stincer* footnote 9, this case does not involve the withholding of information making cross-examination at trial less effective. The question of reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop was not relevant to Zamzow's guilt at trial.⁸

⁸ This Court held that "reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been or is being violated is sufficient to justify all traffic stops." *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 30, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143 (footnote omitted).

Wisconsin cases are consistent with the United States Supreme Court's pre-*Crawford* cases. In *State v. Frambs*, 157 Wis. 2d 700, 460 N.W.2d 811 (Ct. App. 1990), the court of appeals held that hearsay statements could be used at a pre-trial motion hearing to prove a witness unavailability at trial. *Id.* at 703-05. The *Frambs* Court concluded "Frambs had no confrontation clause rights as to hearsay declarants at this motion hearing" *Id.* at 705.

In State v. Jiles, 2003 WI 66, ¶ 29, 262 Wis. 2d 457, 663 N.W.2d 798, this Court stated in the context of a motion to suppress Jiles's statements, that he could not "prevail on an argument that the court *must* apply the rules of evidence at a suppression hearing" relying on Wis. Stat. §§ 901.04(1) and 911.01(4)(a). The Jiles Court further observed "[t]hese rules enjoy support from the Supreme Court's analysis in United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 172-73" Id. ¶ 30. The Jiles Court also quoted with approval from Frambs. It concluded: "We see no evidence that the Supreme Court intended the protection of the confrontation clause to be available to a defendant in those pretrial situations enumerated in sec. 901.04(1), Stats." Id. (quoting Frambs, 157 Wis. 2d at 704).

Wisconsin cases have also rejected confrontation claims to preliminary hearings where, like suppression hearings, the issue of guilt or innocence is not at issue and no jury is present. In *Mitchell v. State*, 84 Wis. 2d 325, 267 N.W.2d 349 (1978), this Court held "there is no constitutional right to confront adverse witnesses at a preliminary examination." *Id.* at 336 (citing *Barber*, 390 U.S. at 725). The court of appeals relied on *Mitchell* to reach the same result in *State v. Padilla*, 110 Wis. 2d 414, 329 N.W.2d 263 (Ct. App. 1982). Padilla was charged with sexual assault of a child. The only witness at the preliminary hearing was the child's mother, who testified about what the child had told her about the assaults. *Id.* at 426-27. Citing *Mitchell*'s clear holding, the court of appeals held: "Of course, there is no constitutional right to confront witnesses at a preliminary examination." *Id.* at 422-23.

The court of appeals again addressed the right to confrontation at a preliminary hearing in *State v. Oliver*, 161 Wis. 2d 140, 467 N.W.2d 211 (Ct. App. 1991), a case in which Oliver was charged with physical abuse of a four-yearold child. At the preliminary hearing, the child was unable to communicate with the trial court so the court found the child incompetent to testify. *Id.* at 142. The court then allowed the child's father to testify that the child told him Oliver hit him. *Id.* In the course of holding the child's statement admissible, the court of appeals noted Oliver "did not have a constitutional right of 'confrontation' at his preliminary examination." *Id.* at 146.

Several of the United States Courts of Appeals have also either stated that the right to confrontation does not apply at pre-trial hearings or rejected a claim of a violation of that right by citing to one of the above cited Supreme Court cases. See United States v. De Los Santos, 819 F.2d 94, 97 (5th Cir. 1987) ("As the Court recently noted in Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 107 S. Ct. 989, 999, 94 L.Ed.2d 40 (1987), '[t]he opinions of this court show that the right of confrontation is a trial right"); United States v. Andrus, 775 F.2d 825, 836 (7th Cir. 1985) (holding the Sixth Amendment does not provide a right to confrontation at a hearing to determine whether statements are admissible under federal rules); United States v. Boyce, 797 F.2d 691, 693 (8th Cir. 1986) ("[T]he right of confrontation does not apply to the same extent at pretrial suppression hearings as it does at trial."); United States v. Smith, 79 F.3d 1208, 1210 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (no right to confront non-testifying government witnesses at a pretrial detention hearing).

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